

CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION

The undersigned officer of the Boerne Public Facility Corporation (the "Issuer") hereby certifies as follows:

1. In accordance with the bylaws of the Issuer, the Board of Directors of the Issuer (the "Board") held a meeting on September 26, 2017 (the "Meeting") of the duly constituted officers and members of the Board, at which a duly constituted quorum was present. Whereupon among other business transacted at the Meeting, a written

RESOLUTION CONCERNING THE ISSUANCE OF UP TO \$18,000,000 OF HOUSING REVENUE BONDS FOR THE BENEFIT OF 210 DEVELOPMENT GROUP, OR LIV BOERNE HILLS, LP, TO FINANCE THE CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPPING OF THE LIV AT BOERNE APARTMENTS; AUTHORIZING THE CALLING OF A PUBLIC HEARING FOR SUCH FINANCING; SEEKING THE APPROVAL OF THE TEXAS ATTORNEY GENERAL; AUTHORIZING THE REIMBURSEMENT OF FUNDS EXPENDED BY THE USER; AND OTHER MATTERS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH

(the "Resolution") was duly introduced for the consideration of the Board and discussed. It was then duly moved and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion, said motion, carrying with it the adoption of the Resolution, prevailed and carried by a majority vote of the Board.

2. A true, full, and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at the Meeting is attached to and follows this Certificate; the Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board's minutes of the Meeting; each of the officers and members of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified officially and personally, in advance, of the time, place, and purpose of the Meeting; and the Meeting was held and conducted in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation and the Bylaws of the Issuer.

SIGNED AND SEALED September 26, 2017.

BOERNE PUBLIC FACILITY CORPORATION

Assistant Secretary

RESOLUTION CONCERNING THE ISSUANCE OF UP TO \$18,000,000 OF HOUSING REVENUE BONDS FOR THE BENEFIT OF 210 DEVELOPMENT GROUP, OR LIV BOERNE HILLS, LP, TO FINANCE THE CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPPING OF THE LIV AT BOERNE APARTMENTS; AUTHORIZING THE CALLING OF A PUBLIC HEARING FOR SUCH FINANCING; SEEKING THE APPROVAL OF THE TEXAS ATTORNEY GENERAL; AUTHORIZING THE REIMBURSEMENT OF FUNDS EXPENDED BY THE USER; AND OTHER MATTERS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH

WHEREAS, the City of Boerne, Texas (the “City”), has, pursuant to the Texas Public Facility Corporation Act, Chapter 303 Texas Local Government Code, as amended (the “Act”), approved and created the Boerne Public Facility Corporation, a non-stock, non-profit public facility corporation (the “Issuer”);

WHEREAS, the Issuer, on behalf of the City, is empowered to finance the costs of residential ownership and development that will provide decent, safe, and sanitary housing at affordable prices for residents of Boerne, Texas by the issuance of multifamily housing revenue bonds;

WHEREAS, LIV Boerne Hills, LP, has requested financing with multifamily housing revenue bonds issued pursuant to the Act (the “Bonds”) to (i) finance the construction and equipping of a senior housing facility consisting of 161 units located at 3 Shooting Club Road, Boerne, Texas and known as LIV at Boerne Apartments (the "Project"), (ii) finance capitalized interest, and (iii) finance a portion of the costs of issuing the Bonds;

WHEREAS, this Resolution shall constitute a commitment of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Issuer, subject to the terms hereof, to issue one or more series of Bonds, or other obligations, pursuant to the Act in an amount prescribed by the User now contemplated not to exceed \$18,000,000, and to expend the proceeds thereof to finance the acquisition, equipping, and improvement of the Project, to fund capitalization interest for the Project, and to pay expenses and costs in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, including costs of obtaining credit enhancement, if any;

WHEREAS, Section 147 of the Internal Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) requires that the applicable elected official of the City approve the issuance of the Bonds after a public hearing for which reasonable public notice shall have been given;

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized by the provisions of the Act to issue the Bonds;

WHEREAS, the User intends to make capital expenditures in connection with the acquisition, equipping, and improvement of the Project (the “Expenditures”) and expects to reimburse the Expenditures with proceeds of the Bonds;

WHEREAS, in order to allocate under Treasury Regulation §1.150-2 (the “Regulation”) proceeds of the Bonds to the Expenditures, the Issuer must declare its reasonable expectation to reimburse the Expenditures; and

WHEREAS, the issuance of the Bonds is in the best interests of the Issuer; now, therefore,

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BOERNE PUBLIC FACILITY CORPORATION THAT:

SECTION 1. Subject to the terms hereof, the Issuer agrees that it will

(a) subject to the negotiation of mutually acceptable agreements, issue the Bonds, in an amount not to exceed \$18,000,000;

(b) cooperate with the User with respect to the issuance of the Bonds, and, if arrangements therefor satisfactory to the User and the Issuer can be made, take such action and authorize the execution of such documents and take such further action as may be necessary or advisable for the authorization, execution, and delivery of any contracts or agreements deemed necessary and desirable by the User or the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Bonds (collectively, the "Contracts"), providing among other things for payment of the principal of, interest on, redemption premiums on, and paying agents' and trustee's fees and charges, if any, on the Bonds; payment of fees, charges, and expenses of the Issuer and the City (including legal and financial advisory expenses); and use, operation, and maintenance of the Project (and the execution of any necessary guaranty agreements), all as shall be authorized, required, or permitted by law and as shall be satisfactory to the Issuer, the City, and the User;

(c) if the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds are insufficient to complete the acquisition, equipping, and improvement of the Project, and the payment of other related costs, take such actions and execute such documents as may be necessary to permit the issuance from time to time in the future of additional bonds on terms which shall be set forth therein, whether on a parity with other series of bonds or otherwise, for the purpose of paying the costs of completing the acquisition, rehabilitation, equipping, and improvement of the Project, as requested by the User and within then applicable limitations; and

(d) take or cause to be taken such other actions as may be required to implement the aforesaid undertakings or as it may deem appropriate in pursuance thereof.

The Bonds shall specifically provide that neither the State of Texas (the "State"), the City, nor any political subdivision or agency of the State shall be obligated to pay the same or the interest thereon and that neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State, the City, or any political subdivision or agency thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds.

SECTION 2. It is understood by the Issuer, and the User has represented to the Issuer, that in consideration of the Issuer's adoption of this Resolution, and subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the User has agreed that

(a) prior to or contemporaneously with the sale of the Bonds in one or more series or issues from time to time as the Issuer and the User shall hereafter agree to in writing, the User will enter into the Contracts with the Issuer under the terms of which the User will obligate itself, on a nonrecourse basis, to pay to the Issuer (or to a trustee, as the case may be) sums sufficient in the aggregate to pay the principal of, interest on, redemption premiums on, paying agents' and trustee's fees and charges, if any, on the Bonds, as and when the same become due and payable, with such Contracts to contain the provisions described in Section 1 hereof and such other provisions as may be required or permitted by law and to be mutually acceptable to the Issuer and the User;

(b) the User will (1) pay all Project acquisition, rehabilitation, equipping, and improvement costs, and all related costs which are not or cannot be paid or reimbursed from the proceeds of the Bonds and (2) at all times from and after the issuance of the Bonds, indemnify and

hold harmless the Issuer and the City against all losses, costs, damages, expenses, and liabilities of whatsoever nature (including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees, litigation and court costs, amounts paid in settlement, and amounts paid to discharge judgments) directly or indirectly resulting from, arising out of or related to the issuance, offering, sale, or delivery of the Bonds, or the design, construction, equipping, installation, operation, use, occupancy, maintenance, or ownership of the Project (other than claims arising from the willful misconduct, bad faith, or fraud of the Issuer or the City) and prior to or contemporaneously with the sale of the Bonds will agree to provide indemnification on terms satisfactory to the Issuer.

SECTION 3. Except as expressly extended by the Issuer, it is understood by the Issuer and the User that all commitments of the Issuer with respect to the Project and the Bonds are subject to the condition that the Bonds shall have been issued no later than two years from the date of this Resolution.

SECTION 4. It is recognized and agreed by the Issuer that the User may exercise its rights and perform its obligations with respect to the financing of the Project either through (i) itself in its own name; (ii) any "related person" as defined in section 144(a)(3) of the Code; or (iii) any legal successor thereto; (iv) any entity in which any of the above is a general partner or the sole member; or (v) or any entity approved by the Issuer, provided that suitable guaranties necessary or convenient for the marketability of the Bonds shall be furnished, if required by the Issuer, and all references herein to the User shall be deemed to include the User acting directly through itself or any such approved entities.

SECTION 5. **THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE USER'S PROPOSAL THAT IT BE FURTHER INDUCED TO PROCEED WITH PROVIDING THE PROJECT. THIS RESOLUTION SHALL CONSTITUTE AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE ISSUER AND THE USER EFFECTIVE ON THE DATE THAT THIS RESOLUTION IS ADOPTED. THIS RESOLUTION IS AFFIRMATIVE OFFICIAL ACTION TAKEN BY THE ISSUER TOWARDS THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS IN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CODE. NEITHER THE USER NOR ANY OTHER PARTY IS ENTITLED TO RELY ON THIS RESOLUTION AS A COMMITMENT TO ISSUE BONDS OR LOAN FUNDS, AND THE ISSUER RESERVES THE RIGHT NOT TO ISSUE THE BONDS EITHER WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE AND WITH OR WITHOUT NOTICE, AND IN SUCH EVENT THE ISSUER SHALL NOT BE SUBJECT TO ANY LIABILITY OR DAMAGES OF ANY NATURE. NEITHER THE USER NOR ANY ONE CLAIMING BY, THROUGH OR UNDER THE USER, NOR ANY INVESTMENT BANKING FIRM OR POTENTIAL PURCHASER OF THE BONDS SHALL HAVE ANY CLAIM AGAINST THE ISSUER WHATSOEVER AS A RESULT OF ANY DECISION BY THE ISSUER NOT TO ISSUE THE BONDS.**

SECTION 6. It is necessary to comply with section 147(f) of the Code, in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the Board hereby authorizes its counsel, Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, to arrange for the publication of a notice of public hearing in Boerne, Texas regarding the Bonds for the purpose of complying with section 147(f) of the Code. The form of notice of such hearing and the date, place, and manner of its publication shall be acceptable to the Corporation's counsel. The hearing shall be held by the Corporation's counsel.

SECTION 7. Based upon representations from the User, the Issuer reasonably expects to reimburse the Expenditures with proceeds of the Bonds in a principal amount that will not exceed \$18,000,000. This Resolution shall constitute a declaration of official intent under the Treasury Regulation Section 1.150-2.

SECTION 8. The Issuer hereby adopts this Resolution in order to satisfy the requirements of Chapter 1372, Texas Government Code and Section 146 of the Code pertaining to the issuance of the Bonds and authorizes any officer or designee of the Issuer to prepare and file and/or re-file a 2017 and/or 2018 Allocation Application and/or any carryforward applications associated with such Allocation Application, together with all required attachments (including obtaining the Issuer's Certificate of Good Standing from the Comptroller of Public Accounts for the State of Texas) in the form required by the Texas Bond Review Board.

SECTION 9. The Issuer respectfully requests that the Allocation Application be accepted and approved by the Texas Bond Review Board.

SECTION 10. Any officer of the Issuer (or his designee) is hereby authorized to execute the Allocation Application, to pay (or cause the User to pay) the Application Fee of \$5,000 for each Allocation Application (submitted to the Issuer by the User) to the Texas Bond Review Board and to submit any additional information or to make any necessary corrections or revisions requested by the Texas Bond Review Board in order to satisfy the requirements of the Allocation Act in connection with the Allocation Application.

SECTION 11. The Board certifies that the Bonds are not being issued for the same stated purpose for which the Issuer has received sufficient carry-forward during a prior year or for which there exists unexpended proceeds from a prior issue or issues of bonds issued by the Issuer.

SECTION 12. The Board authorizes the President, Vice President, Secretary, or Assistant Secretary, as appropriate, of the Board to execute any documents or certificates necessary to seek the approval of the Bonds by the Texas Attorney General.

SECTION 13. The recitals contained in the preamble hereof are hereby found to be true, and such recitals are hereby made a part of this Resolution for all purposes and are adopted as a part of the judgment and findings of the Board.

SECTION 14. All resolutions, or parts thereof, which are in conflict or inconsistent with any provision of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict, and the provisions of this Resolution shall be and remain controlling as to the matters resolved herein.

SECTION 15. If any provision of this Resolution or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be held to be invalid, the remainder of this Resolution and the application of such provision to other persons and circumstances shall nevertheless be valid, and the Board hereby declares that this Resolution would have been enacted without such invalid provision.

SECTION 16. This Resolution shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas and the United States of America.

SECTION 17. This Resolution shall be in force and effect from and after its passage.

* * *